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Pending before the Court is Defendant Kevin Howard’s motion to vacate his convictions

based on a change in law after the verdict. (Instrument No. 1247).
L

On May 31, 2006, a jury returned a guilty verdict against Kevin Howard (“Howard”), the
former Chief Financial Officer of the defunct Enron Broadband Services (“EBS”) unit, on all five
counts charged in the government’s Sixth Superseding Indictment. (Instrument No. 1187, Instrument
No. 914 — Sixth Superseding Indictment). Specifically, the jury returned a general verdict finding that
Howard had engaged in a conspiracy to commit wire fraud and to falsify Enron’s books and records
(“Count One”), in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371, had committed three counts of wire fraud (“Counts
Two through Four”), in violation of in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1343 and/or 1346, and one count
of falsifying Enron’s books and records (“Count Five”), in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)(A) &
(B), 78m(b)(5), 78ff and 17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-1. (Instrument No. 1187).

On August 1, 2006, approximately two months after the jury found Howard guilty on all
charges, the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit issued an opinion in another Enron-
related case, United States v. Brown, 459 F.3d 509 (5th Cir. 2006), petition for rehearing and for

rehearing en banc denied, No. 05-20319 (5th Cir. October 18, 2006). In Brown, a case involving
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similar facts, the Fifth Circuit vacated the conspiracy and wire fraud convictions of several defendants
on the legal grounds that one of the two theories underlying the defendants’ wire fraud convictions,
the deprivation of honest services theory under § 1346, was flawed. Further, because the jury that
convicted the defendants in Brown had not been asked to specify which wire fraud theory formed the
basis of their verdict, the Court concluded that the defendants’ convictions had to be vacated in
accordance with the Supreme Court’s mandate in Yates v. United States, 354 U.S. 298 (1957)
(stating that where a jury is not asked to indicate the basis for its verdict and one basis is nullified, the
conviction(s) must be set aside), overruled on other grounds by Burks v. United States, 437 U.S. 1
(1978).

On September 29, 2006, Howard filed a motion with this Court to vacate his convictions
based upon a change in the law. (Instrument No. 1247). Howard’s motion contends that the Brown
opinion similarly unravels the legal theory underlying his convictions, thereby requiring that his
convictions be vacated as well. Specifically, Howard argues that Count One of the Sixth Superseding
Indictment charged Howard with engaging in a conspiracy to commit wire fraud and falsify Enron’s
books and records. (/d., at 8). Count One contained three theories or bases under which Howard
could be found guilty of the conspiracy charge, “two involving conspiracy to commit the offense of
wire fraud and one involving conspiracy to falsify Enron’s books and records.” (/d.). The jury was
instructed by the Court that in order to find Howard guilty of conspiracy, the United States did not
have to prove that Howard had engaged in a conspiracy to commit both wire fraud and the
falsification of Enron’s books and records. (Instrument No. 1176, at 12-13 — Court’s Instructions
to the Jury). Rather, the jury could find Howard guilty of the alleged conspiracy if they found him
guilty of committing either offense; that is, wire fraud or the falsification of Enron’s books and

records. (/d.).
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Further, Court One charged that the conspiracy to commit wire fraud be proven in two ways.
(Instrument No. 1176, at 10). Howard could be found guilty if he had either (1) engaged in a scheme
to obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations,
and promises, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343 (the “money or property” theory), or (2) had engaged
in a scheme to deprive Enron and its shareholders of the intangible right to honest services of the
company’s employees by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and
promises, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1346 (the “honest services” theory). (/d.; Instrument No. 914,
at 9-10). The jury was instructed that either of these two theories of wire fraud could provide a basis
to find Howard guilty of the conspiracy to commit wire fraud and to falsify Enron’s books and
records, as alleged in Count One, as well as the corollary substantive counts of wire fraud alleged in
Counts Two through Four. (Instrument No. 1176, at 11-18).

Count One of the Sixth Superseding Indictment alleged that Howard could also be found
guilty of conspiracy if he had knowingly and willfully falsified Enron’s books, records and accounts,
in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)(A) & (B), 78m(b)(5), 78ff and 17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-1.
(Instrument No. 914, at 9). Count Five charged Howard with a substantive count of falsifying
Enron’s books and records. (/d., at 11-12). Because Count One charged Howard with conspiracy
to commit wire fraud and to falsify Enron’s books and records, and because wire fraud could be
proven in two ways, the falsification of Enron’s books and records provided a third theory or basis
by which to find Howard guilty of the alleged conspiracy. The jury was instructed that any one of
these three theories could support a guilty verdict that Howard had engaged in the conspiracy to
commit wire fraud and to falsify Enron’s books and records, as alleged in Count One. (Instrument
No. 1176, at 12-13).

At the government’s request, the Court also included a Pinkerton instruction in the jury
3
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charge. (Instrument No. 1022, at 51). Neither the government nor Howard objected to the
Pinkerton instruction given by the Court. (Instrument No. 1266, at 8). A Pinkerton instruction
dictates that a jury may find a conspirator liable for the reasonably foreseeable acts of his co-
conspirators done in furtherance of the conspiracy. Pinkerton v. United States, 328 U.S. 640 (1946).
The Pinkerton instruction provided to the jury, drawn directly from Fifth Circuit Pattern Jury
Instruction 2.22, stated as follows:

A conspirator is responsible for offenses committed by other conspirators if

the conspirator was a member of the conspiracy when the offense was committed and

if the offense was committed in furtherance of, or as a foreseeable consequence of,

the conspiracy. Therefore, if you have first found a defendant guilty of the conspiracy

charged in Count One and if you find beyond a reasonable doubt that during the time

the defendant was a member of that conspiracy, other conspirators committed the

offenses in Counts Two through Five in further of or as a foreseeable consequence of

that conspiracy, then you may find the defendant guilty of Counts Two through Five

even though the defendant may not have participated in any of the acts which

constitute the offenses described in those counts.

(Instrument No. 1176, at 13-14). The Pinkerton instruction directed that the jury could find Howard
guilty of Counts Two through Four, wire fraud, and Count Five, falsification of Enron’s books and
records, if the jury found Howard guilty of the conspiracy alleged in Count One — and Count One set
forth three theories or bases for the jury to find Howard guilty of the alleged conspiracy.

Howard argues that the structure ofthe jury charge, and particularly the Pinkerton instruction,
enabled the jury to find Howard guilty on all counts, if the jury determined that one of the three
theories alleged in Count One had been proven by the United States, those being either one of the two
wire fraud theories or the falsification of books and records theory. Howard contends that because
Brown declared one of the three theories, the honest services theory, flawed, Brown essentially
eviscerates his convictions. Brown, 359 F.3d at 513. Howard argues that the jury’s general verdict

demonstrates that there is no way to know which theory of wire fraud the jury relied upon in reaching

4



Case 4:03-cr-00093 Document 1284  Filed 01/31/2007 Page 5 of 19

its verdict on Count One. Nor did the general verdict indicate whether the jury’s finding of Howard’s
guilt on Count One was based upon the falsification of books and records theory. Therefore, Howard
argues, the jury could have based its verdict on the honest services theory declared flawed in Brown,
rather than the two other theories of guilt that the jury was instructed to consider in finding Howard
guilty on Count One. (Instrument No. 1247, at 4-9).

Accordingly, Howard argues, his conviction on all counts must be vacated since there is no
way to discern whether the jury found Howard guilty on Counts Two through Four and Count Five,
because the Pinkerton instruction invited them to do so if they found him guilty on Count One — and
there is no way for the Court to determine which of the three theories the jury relied upon in reaching
its guilty verdict on Count One. Howard therefore urges the Court to vacate his conviction on all
counts.

On November 9, 2006, the United States filed its response to Howard’s motion to vacate.
(Instrument No. 1266). The United States “concedes that the jury’s verdict finding defendant
Howard guilty on Counts One through Four must be vacated.” (Instrument No. 1266, at 7).
However, the United States does not concede that Howard’s guilty verdict on Count Five is
necessitated by Brown or otherwise. (Instrument No. 1266, at 7-12). Rather, the government
asserts that substantial evidence was presented to the jury to support the jury verdict that Howard
had individually committed the falsification of Enron’s books and records as alleged in Count Five.
Specifically, the government contends that the evidence showed beyond a reasonable doubt that
through his participation in Project Braveheart (“Braveheart”), Howard had directly “caused the
falsification of Enron’s earnings and therefore of its books and records.” (/d., at 8).

The government argues that despite the Pinkerton instruction, the Court instructed the jury

that “[e]ach count, and the evidence pertaining to it, should be considered separately. The case of
5
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each defendant should be considered separately and individually.” (Instrument No. 1176, at 8). The
jury instructions, according to the government, “pointed the jury toward considering the defendant’s
direct responsibility for the books and records violation.” (Instrument No. 1266, at 10). Thus, the
government argues that the jury instructions did not premise Howard’s guilt on Count Five solely on
Pinkerton co-conspirator liability, but rather, the instructions guided the jury to consider his guilt
independent of the Pinkerton instruction. (/d.).

Moreover, the government contends that the evidence and the prosecutor’s summation
arguments support this position. The government highlights the prosecutor’s initial summation at trial
as evidence that the government did not rely on a Pinkerton theory in arguing to the jury that Howard
should be found guilty of the falsification of Enron’s books and records. (Instrument No. 1266, at
9; Trial Record, at 3010-11). Specifically, the prosecutor stated that Count Five, the falsification of
Enron’s books and records, was detached from the conspiracy charge and did not deal “with a plan
of some sort.” (Trial Record, at 3010-11). Furthermore, in rebuttal summation, the prosecutor
stated that Howard directly committed the offense alleged in Count Five by “causing the
falsification,” either directly or indirectly, of Enron’s books and records. (Trial Record, at 3176-77).
The government also asserts that it did not proffer evidence that “another person actually falsified
Enron’s books and records.” (Instrument No. 1266, at 8). Consequently, the government contends
that the jury instructions and the prosecutor’s arguments emphasized to the jury that it should
consider the evidence presented against Howard individually, and not on the basis of Pinkerton
liability. Therefore, according to the government, it is substantially likely that above all, the jury
convicted Howard on Count Five in response to the evidence offered against him individually at trial.

(Instrument No. 1266, at 8).

In support of its argument that this Court may uphold Howard’s conviction on Count Five,
6
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even when considering the potential implications of the Pinkerton instruction, the government points
to case law from the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit. The government argues
that the case of United States v. Manarite stands for the proposition that even where a jury has been
given a Pinkerton instruction and finds a defendant guilty of conspiracy and the conspiracy conviction
is later reversed or vacated, a court is not compelled to also vacate the defendant’s conviction(s) on
the substantive count(s) alleged to be the objects of the conspiracy. 44 F.3d 1407 (Sth Cir. 1995).
If a court instead determines that, with or without a Pinkerton instruction, a defendant would have
been convicted of a substantive count alleged to be an object of the conspiracy, then under Manarite,
a defendant’s conviction on the substantive count need not be vacated, because there exists an
independent evidentiary basis for the conviction. The government argues that the evidence presented
at trial was sufficient to uphold Howard’s conviction on Count Five.

On November 15, 2006, Howard filed a reply to the government’s response to his motion to
vacate. (Instrument No. 1270). Inresponse, Howard argues that his conviction on Count Five can
not be divorced from the implications of the Pinkerton instruction, which invited or enabled the jury
to find Howard guilty on Count Five if the jury, relying on any one of three theories set forth in Count
One, found Howard guilty of conspiracy. (/d., at 3-6). Howard contends that the “[g]overnment can
not prove that the jury did not find Kevin Howard guilty of conspiracy to commit honest services wire
fraud in Count One, and the [g]lovernment cannot prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury did
not then find him guilty on Count Five under Pinkerton.” (/d., at 4-5). Howard further argues that
the evidence presented against him is insufficient to uphold his conviction on Count Five, especially
given the impact that the Pinkerton instruction may have had on the jury verdict. Howard emphasizes
that there is simply no way for the Court to dissect the jury verdict and ascertain whether Howard

was convicted on Count Five based upon only on the evidence presented against him individually at
7
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trial, and not on the basis of Pinkerton co-conspirator liability. Howard argues that through the
Pinkerton instruction, Count One and Count Five are inextricably intertwined and therefore, if this
Court vacates Howard’s conspiracy and wire fraud convictions on the basis of Brown or otherwise,
Howard’s conviction on Count Five, the falsification of Enron’s books and records, must be also be
vacated. Howard reurges that this Court vacate his conviction on all counts.
1L

Howard points to the bright line rule established in Yates in support of his motion to vacate
his convictions based upon a change in the law. In Yates, the defendants had been charged with a
conspiracy which asserted three separate objects, and the jury rendered a general guilty verdict.
However, the Supreme Court found that one of the three alleged objects was insufficient as a matter
of law to support a conviction. In rejecting the government’s argument that the verdict should
nonetheless be upheld on the basis of one of the remaining objects, the Court held that a general
verdict must be set aside “where the verdict is supportable on one ground, but not on another, and
it is impossible to tell which ground the jury selected.” 354 U.S. at 312, see also Zant v. Stephens,
462 U.S. 862, 881 (1983) (confirming “that a general verdict must be set aside if the jury was
instructed that it could rely on any of two or more independent grounds, and one of those grounds
is insufficient, because the verdict may have rested exclusively on the insufficient ground.”).

The Supreme Court subsequently limited the Yates holding to instances where one of the
potential bases of conviction was legally insufficient rather than factually insufficient. See Griffin v.
United States, 502 U.S. 46, 58-59 (1991) (clarifying that the rule established in Yates only applies
when there is legal error in one of the bases for conviction). In Griffin, the Court explained that by
“legal error,” it meant “a mistake about the law,” not a “mistake concerning the weight or the factual

import of the evidence.” U.S. v. Salmonese, 352 F.3d 608, 624 (2d Cir. 2003) (quoting Griffin, 502
8
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U.S. at 56-59); see also U.S. v. Mann, 161 F.3d 840, 856-57 (5th Cir. 1998) (confirming that Yates
and Griffin are applicable in cases involving multi-object conspiracies, where one of the alleged
objects of the conspiracy is legally defective).

Howard argues that the Brown opinion clearly demonstrates that one of the two theories of
wire fraud asserted against him constituted a change or mistake in the law, as described in Griffin,
since Brown plainly declared that the honest services theory of wire fraud asserted against Howard
at trial to be flawed as applied. Further, as the honest services theory was one of three bases for his
conspiracy conviction, and the Court’s Pinkerton instruction allowed the jury to find Howard guilty
on the substantive counts alleged in Counts Two through Four and Count Five, Howard contends that
there is no way to assess whether the jury’s general guilty verdict was based upon the no longer
supportable honest services theory. Howard asserts that Yates therefore compels the conclusion that
his convictions on all counts be vacated.

1.
A

Howard contends that the factual background of Brown and his own case describe the “exact
[same] scenario,” and therefore, this Court should similarly vacate his conspiracy and wire fraud
convictions. (Instrument No. 1247, at 2). In Brown, the Fifth Circuit reviewed the conspiracy and
wire fraud convictions of four Merrill Lynch employees who had participated in the bogus sale of
three power-generating Nigerian barges from Enron to Merrill Lynch (“Merrill”). 459 F.3d at 514-
17. The purpose of the sale was to enable Enron to record earnings of approximately $12.5 million
dollars from the sale and resultantly meet its earning targets for the fourth fiscal quarter of 1999. 7d.
Merrill participated in the transaction after receiving an oral guarantee from Enron executives,

principally Andrew Fastow, Enron’s former Chief Financial Officer, that Merrill would not lose
9
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money on the transaction and that Enron would remove Merrill from the transaction within six
months. Id. Merrill performed no diligence surrounding the transaction, and in December 1999,
agreed to buy the barges. Id. As promised by Enron executives, six months after Merrill bought the
barges, Enron arranged for LIM2, an entity controlled by Andrew Fastow, to effectively buy back
the barges, thereby unwinding Merrill’s purchase of the barges in the first place. /d. Merrill received
a flat rate of compensation in return for its participation in the sham purchase. Id.

The Government charged the defendants with one count of conspiracy and two counts of wire
fraud. 459 F.3d at 516. The conspiracy count alleged a conspiracy to commit wire fraud in violation
of § 1343, the money or property theory, and § 1346, the honest services theory, and to falsify
Enron’s books and records in violation of Title 15, the books and records theory. Id. At trial, the
jury convicted five of the six defendants on the conspiracy and wire fraud counts. /d. at 517. The
sixth defendant was acquitted. Id.

Four of the five convicted defendants, all of whom were Merrill employees that participated
in the barges transaction, appealed the jury verdict, arguing, inter alia, that honest services wire fraud
does not extend to the type of conduct with which they were charged. The Fifth Circuit agreed,
holding that honest services wire fraud did not apply to the barges transaction. Specifically, the Court
held that:

[Wlhere an employer intentionally aligns the interests of the employee with a
specified corporate goal, where the employee perceives his pursuit of that goal as
mutually benefitting him and his employer, and where the employee’s conduct is
consistent with that perception of the mutual interest, such conduct is beyond the
reach of the honest-services theory of fraud as it has hitherto been applied.

Brown, 459 F.3d at 522. That is, under Brown, an employee deprives his employer of “honest

services” when the employee promotes his own interests, rather than the interests of his employer.

Even where an employee commits a fiduciary breach in the course of primarily servicing the interests
10
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